BETTER HERITAGE INFORMATION
SUMMARY OF STATE HERITAGE PLACE

COMMENTARY ON THE LISTING
Description and notes with respect to a place entered in the South Australian
Heritage Register in accordance with either the South Australian Heritage Act
1978 or the Heritage Places Act 1993.

The information contained in this document is provided in accordance with
s14 and s21 of the Heritage Places Act 1993.

NAME: St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642

KNOWN Star of the Sea Catholic Chapel and Schoolroom
AS:

ADDRESS:  Bunganditj Country
2 Hagen Street, Robe SA 5276

CT5614/20 7441801 A53

Hundred of Waterhouse

CONFIRMED IN THE SOUTH AUSTRALIAN HERITAGE REGISTER:
31 August 1983
STATEMENT OF HERITAGE SIGNIFICANCE

St Mary'’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church demonstrates the origins and expansion of
Catholicism throughout South Australia during the first few decades of the colony. As
the chapel also housed a Catholic primary school run by the Sisters of Saint Joseph
from around 1869 to 1880, it is also associated with the origins of independent Catholic
education in South Australia and with the first wave of Josephite schools that emerged
in the 1860s. Additionally, it reflects the social and cultural development of a key
government town and port in the mid-nineteenth century.
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RELEVANT/INDICATIVE CRITERIA (under section 16 of the Heritage Places Act
1993)

(a) it demonstrates important aspects of the evolution or pattern of the State’s
history

Built in 1858, St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church represents the origins and
expansion of Catholicism throughout South Australia during the early decades of the
colony and is among the first Catholic chapels erected outside of Adelaide. South
Australia did not have a resident Catholic priest until 1841 and lacked a dedicated
place of worship until 1845. It was only after Bishop Francis Murphy arrived in South
Australia in November 1844 aond embarked on developing and expanding
Catholicism in the young colony that Catholic parishes were established. Murphy was
also responsible for hiring priests and initiated the construction of numerous churches,
chapels and schools, in Adelaide and regional areas. His successors furthered his
foundational efforts. Though erected after Murphy’s death, St Mary’s Star of the Sea
Catholic Church stemmed from this initial drive and was among those buildings built
during this early phase of development.

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church is also associated with the development of
Catholic education in South Australia and the emergence of the Sisters of Saint
Joseph. Founded as a religious order by Mary MacKillop and Julian Tenison-Woods at
Penola in 1866, the order began operating a school from the chapel at Robe in
c.1869,. Prior to the Education Act 1875, childhood education in South Australia was
comprised of government subsidised and private schools, typically run by individuals
and churches. While the Catholic Church had at first reluctantly accepted assistance
from the state, it became increasingly averse to government involvement. By the late
1860s, it had established its own system of education separate from the government.
Along with Bishop Laurence Shiel, Julian Tenison-Woods and Mary MacKillop were
instrumental in the creation of this system and the two ensured that the Sisters of Saint
Joseph played a central role within it. The Catholic school at St Mary’s Star of the Sea
demonstrates this aspect of the State’s history as it connected to these developments.
Importantly, it was among the first wave of Josephite schools established in South
Australia in the 1860s, which went on to establish a presence in the other Australasian
colonies, including New Zealand. The order is now international in reach.

St Mary’s Star of the Sea was one of serval buildings constructed during Robe’s heyday
from the late 1840s to 1860s, when it was one of South Australia’s most important
government towns and seaports. Built in 1858, St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic
Church is the first church built in Robe, demonstrating the growth and maturity of the
town, as well as the arrival and settlement of Irish immigrants in South Australia.
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SITE PLAN

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642
2 Hagen Street, Robe

14415014129

1T441801'A53)

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church, SHP 11642, CT 5614/20 1441801 A53, Hundred of
Waterhouse.
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Physical Description

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church is a vernacular chapel building located to
the south-east of Lake Butler and opposite to Seahaven Motel — Former Government
Residency (SHP 12546). The plot is adjacent to several historically significant
administrative sites.

The chapel is a simple rectangular structure built of stone featuring:

e high-pitched gabled roof with corrugated galvanised steel sheets,

e pointed entrance door with a leadlight transom window,

e pointed windows,

e |ean-to extension at the rear with a chimney, also with a pointed door on the
south facing elevation and pointed windows.

The exterior is painted white, and adornments include:

e cross finial,
e statuette of Madonna and child/Mary and baby Jesus above the front
entrance.

The interior comprises a hall and two rooms located in the lean-to. The walls are
rendered and painted white, and the ceiling consists of flat timber. There is a fireplace
in the lean-to.

Elements of Significance:

Elements of heritage significance include (but are not necessarily limited to):

e chapel,

e lean-fo,

e high pitched gabile roof,

e pointed entrance door with leadlight transom window,
e pointed side door,

e pointed windows,

e cross finial,

e statuette,

e chimney and fireplace.

Elements not considered to conftribute to significance of place include (but are not
necessarily limited to):

e non-original internal fixtures,

e corrugated galvanised steel roofing,

e fencing and entrance gate/arch,

e commemorative and interpretative signage.
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History of the Place!

Establishing Catholicism and Catholic Education in South Australia

From the outset, the Catholic community in South Australia was small and consisted
almost entirely of working-class people from Ireland. While the community met
informally in Adelaide, it wasn’'t until 1841 that a resident priest arrived when the
diocese of Sydney sent Father Wiliom Benson to Adelaide.2 Father Benson
subsequently leased a warehouse in Waymouth Street to use as a chapel. By 1842 the
number of Catholic parishioners in Australia had grown to such an extent that the
diocese of Sydney was divided creating separate dioceses for Adelaide and Hobart.
Father Benson was succeeded by Father Edmund Mahoney in 1844.3 Bishop Francis
Murphy arrived later that year on 6 November. Dr Murphy laid the foundation stone
for several of the colony’s first Catholic buildings, including the first bespoke Catholic
Church in South Australia, St Mary's at Morphett Vale (SHP 10596), in July 1845.4

Through Dr Murphy’s enthusiasm and guidance, other congregations and churches
were established outside of Adelaide. Prior to 1858, there were thirteen priests in the
diocese, located at Morphett Vale, Mount Barker, Willunga, Kapunda, Gawler,
Penola, and Sevenhill. By 1858, there were about fourteen churches in the colony,
including at Morphett Vale, Clare, Kapunda, Sevenhill and Robe.>

Upon his arrival in Adelaide, Dr Murphy was struck by the lack of Catholic institutions
in the colony and in addition to the many churches he supported the construction of
he was also responsible for establishing formal Catholic education in South Australia.é
The lack of a Catholic primary school was particularly concerning to Murphy. He
observed that children in Adelaide had been ‘growing up in profound ignorance of
the first rudiments of their religion, or what is worse they are imbibing false doctrine in
Protestant and Methodist Schools’.”

Accordingly, establishing a school for Catholic children was a priority.8 Just six weeks
after his arrival in Adelaide, the foundation stone of the first school hall and temporary
church was laid at a site on the corner of West Terrace and Grote Street on 12
December 18447 It was completed in 1845 and the school opened in October. Over
the next few years, several additional schools were established, including at Clare in
1849 and Dry Creek (now Salisbury) in 1850.

During the first decade of the colony’s existence, schooling in general was
rudimentary and fragmented, and was provided by private individuals and
churches.’® Schools operated from a range of buildings, most of them makeshift.!" In
1847, Governor Frederick Robe infroduced Ordinance 11, which provided assistance
to schools regardless of whether they provided denominational instruction.'? The
Ordinance was overturned in 1851 and replaced by the Education Act 1851, which
restricted support to non-denominational schools. It also authorised the government
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to subsidise the cost of constructing schoolhouses, though funds were not allocated
for this purpose unfil the late 1850s.'3 By 1873, the government had subsidised the
erection of approximately one hundred schoolhouses. '

The Catholic Church at first reluctantly accepted the government’s provisions, but
gradually came to reject them entirely. Bishop Murphy initially accepted funds from
the government to subsidise the cost of teachers, but after 1851 refused to publicly
endorse government-funded schools, although he did not prevent Catholic teachers
from accepting financial assistance.!®

In 1859, Bishop Geoghegan, Murphy's successor, ordered Catholics not to attend
state-funded schools and established an independent school fund financed by the
Society for the Propagation of the Faith.'¢ Further changes occurred once Bishop
Laurence Sheil replaced Bishop Geoghegan in 1866. Together with Father Tenison-
Woods and Mary MacKillop, in 1867, Bishop Sheil established what amounted to a new
Catholic education system in South Australia. This system centralised authority and
prioritised Sisters over lay teachers.!”

Mary MacKillop and Father Tenison-Woods and established the Sisters of Saint Joseph
as areligious order at Penolain 1866. The Sisters were the first order of nuns established
in Australia. In creating the new Catholic education system in 1867, they ensured that
the Sisters would play a vital role within it. They quickly spread from the South East,
establishing schools first throughout South Australia and later throughout the other
Australasian colonies, including New Zealand. The order is now internatfional in
reach.'®

Colonial Robe

Guichen Bay in the South East of South Australia forms part of the traditional lands of
the Bungandidj people, who have been present in the area for at least 30,000 years.!?
Europeans first charted the coastline of the region in 1802 during the Baudin and
Flinders expeditions and sealers established a presence at Guichen Bay in 1831.20

European exploration of the South East took place from 1839 and settlement began
as early as 1840.2" Much of the South East was initially settled by pastoralists and by
1847 approximately half of the region was held under pastoral licences. As primary
production expanded the colonial government began to provide a series of
government towns as service and staging centres. The provision of ports to ship goods
to market was also viewed as essential and Robe was established in 1846, to provide
a port for the burgeoning wool clip then being obtained from the South East.?2 Robe
was officially declared as a port by the Government in 1847.23

Situated towards the south of Guichen Bay, the tfown at Robe (or Robetown) went on
to become the first major town of the South East.2* Robe became the administrative

centre of the region when a Government Resident was appointed in 1846.25 Over the
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next two decades, Robe developed as an international port that serviced the local
wool industry and import and export markets. It also facilitated the arrival of thousands
of immigrants, including British and Irish people, as well as Chinese prospectors during
the Victorian gold rush.2¢

The Catholic Church at Robe

When planning Robe in 1846, government surveyors allocated ‘good grassy land’
towards the rear of the township as a glebe for the erection of a church.?” A burial
ground was established at the site three years later, which became Robe cemetery
(SHP 12645). However, it took over a decade for a church to be built anywhere in
Robe. In July 1858, the Observer noted that except for a Catholic Church, which was
then under construction, no other religious structure existed in the town.8

According to Reverend R. A. Morrison, the church was built by Father Julian Tenison-
Woods on land purchased by Bishop Francis Murphy a decade earlier in 1847. As
historian Susan Marsden observes, its establisnment in Robe ‘may be a reflection on
the numbers of Irish immigrants who were then landing at the Port of Robe’.?? By late
1858, sometime between October and December, the church was completed.3° As
Robe initially lacked a resident Catholic priest, 3! Father Woods, based at Penola,
periodically visited Robe to deliver services at the chapel, which he contfinued to do
into the 1860s,32 likely until he relocated to Adelaide in 1867.

Furthermore, the church was used as a Catholic primary school approximately
between1869 to 1880. Known as St Joseph's School, by 1871 it was one of 65 Catholic
schools located throughout South Australia.’® In c.1869 two small rooms with a
fireplace and chimney were added to the back of the church (the western end) to
provide accommodation for two teaching sisters from the order of Saint Joseph.34. The
Sisters of Saint Joseph, a ‘frugal order, simple and with a moderate education’, were
founded by Mary MacKillop and Father Woods at Penola in 1866.35 ,. The school at
Robe was among the first wave of Josephite schools established in South Australia
during the late 1860s.3¢ Historian Liz Harfull notes that Mary ‘came to help settle the first
two sisters assigned as teachers’ at Robe and ‘kept in regular contact with the nuns
serving there’ .37

Regarding the school, local historian Kathleen Bermingham highlights the following:

The teachers of St Joseph received no subsidies from the parishes in which they
had schools. They depended for the most part on what they received in fees — a
negligible amount in many cases — and the generosity inspired by the gratitude of
those among whom they lived and worked.

At Guichen Bay, the Sisters were high in their praise of the support they were given
by the whole of the inhabitants, irespective of creed, who kept them supplied with

food and other gifts.38

BHI Summary of State Heritage Place: 11642 70f 19
Confirmed in the South Australian Heritage Register on 31 August 1983

The South Australian Heritage Council endorsed the content of this BHI - SSHP on 15 February
2024



The school temporarily ceased operating in 1871 after Bishop Sheil sought to gain
control of the Catholic education system.® In the process, Bishop Sheil removed
Tenison-Woods from the diocese and excommunicated Mary MacKillop, though the
excommunication was overturned the following year. During this ordeal, almost half
of the Sisters resigned or were expelled. However, the school resumed operating
shortly afterwards following the appointment of a new priest who was supportive of
Mary'’s efforts. Less than a decade later, the school closed for good. Bermingham has
noted that the ‘school closed in 1880°, after having ‘given sterling service in, and for,
the community’ for over a decade.“ The opening of a government school a few years
earlier in 1876 may have also contributed to its closure.

Moreover, the chapel’'s construction was a part of the general social, cultural and
economic development of Robe which took place from the late 1850s until the 1870s
when the population and economy declined.' The wave of development is
illustrated by the formation of a Mechanic’s Institute in 1862 and the building of an
Institute Hall in 1868 or 1869; the construction of four churches, including the Free
Presbyterian Chapel opened in 1858, St Peter’'s Anglican Church in 1860, and a Bible
Christian Chapelin 1868. The gaol was constructed in 1861, the Customs House in 1862,
and a new jetty built between 1866 and 1868 (since demolished).

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church remains an active Catholic Church and is
run by the Penola Catholic Parish. The chapel has changed little since the nineteenth
century, save for maintenance and conservation work and was confirmed as a State
Heritage Place on 31 August 1983.

Chronology

Year Event

1841 South Australia’s first resident Catholic priest, Father William Benson, arrives
in Adelaide.

1842 Rome subdivides the diocese of Sydney to create the diocese of Hobart
and Adelaide.

1844 Bishop Francis Murphy arrives in South Australia.
The foundation stone for the first St Patrick’s Church (since demolished) is
laid at a site on the corner of West Terrace and Grote Street in Adelaide
on 12 December. Designed as a combined Catholic school hall and
temporary church, this building is the first formal Catholic structure built in
South Australia.

1845 Archbishop’s House (SHP 13398) is built.

The foundation stone for St Mary's Catholic Church is laid in Morphett Vale
on 28 July. This is the first bespoke Catholic church built in South Australia.

First St Patrick’s Church (also used as a school) opens on 5 October.
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1846 Counties of Grey and Robe are proclaimed and opened to claim under
pastoral license.

Government of South Australia establishes Robe as the administrative
centre of the South East; Capitan Villiers Butler is appointed as the first
Government Resident.

The township of Robe is surveyed from what becomes the Royal Circus.
The surveyors allocate land as a glebe to be used for church purposes.

The first bespoke Catholic church, St Mary’s (SHP 10596), opens in Morphett
Vale.

1847 The Colonial Government officially declares Robe as a port.

1857 Julian Tenison-Woods is ordained as a Catholic priest and is placed in
charge of the parish at Penola.
Tenison-Woods travels to his new parish via steamer and lands at Robe.

1858 Bishop Francis Murphy dies from pulmonary tuberculosis on 26 April.
St Francis Xavier's Cathedral (SHP 10892) opens on 11 July.
St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church opens in December. It is the first
church in Robe.

1859 Bishop Patrick Geoghegan is consecrated as the new Bishop of Adelaide.
Bishop Geoghegan bans Catholic children from attending state-funded
schools, unsuccessfully lobbies the government to allocate funds to
denominational schools and establishes private funding for Catholic
schools.

1866 Bishop Laurence Sheil is consecrated as the new Bishop of Adelaide.
Mary Mackillop arrives at Penola and establishes a school with Tenison-
Woods' assistance.
Sisters of Saint Joseph is established by Tenison-Woods and Mary Mackillop.
The lean-to at the rear of the chapel at Robe is used to accommodate two
Sisters of St Joseph and the chapel is used to house a school.

1867 A convent and school run by the Sisters of Saint Joseph is opened on
Franklin Street.
With Father Tenison-Woods, Bishop Sheil establishes a new Catholic school
system.

1875 Education Act 1875 intfroduces compulsory schooling and establishes the
Council of Education.

1880 The school run by the Sisters at St Mary’s Star of the Sea ceases to operate.
St Mary’s Star of the Sea continues to operate as a church.
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1983 St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church is listed as a State Heritage Place
on 31 August with the name Church - “Star of the Sea”.

2014 Heritage SA approved Development Application 822/21/14 to repair and
paint the interior and exterior of Church - “Star of the Sea”, including its
roof, walls, doors, and windows.

2023 The South Australia Heritage Council approves changing the Register

name from Church - “Star of the Sea” to St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic
Church.
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SITE DETAILS

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642
2 Hagen Street, Robe

DESCRIPTION OF PLACE: Rectangular, vernacular chapel built of painted stone
with a high-pitched gabled roof, pointed entrance
door, pointed windows, and a lean-to extension at

rear.
DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: 1858; lean-to 1866
REGISTER STATUS: Provisionally entered 7 April 1983
Confirmed 31 August 1983
CURRENT USE: Catholic chapel, 1858 -
PREVIOUS USE(S): Catholic school, 1868 - 1880
LOCAL GOVERNMENT District Council of Robe
AREA:
LOCATION: Street No.: 2
Street Name: Hagen
Town/Suburb: Robe
Post Code: 5276
LAND DESCRIPTION: Title
Reference: CT 5614/20 T441801 A53
Hundred: Waterhouse
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PHOTOS

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642
2 Hagen Street, Robe

Front and south-facing elevation of the chapel, 1980. The lean-to is visible at the rear.

Source: DEW Files

Front of the chapel showing the cross finial, statuette, and pointed door, 1982.

Source: DEW Files
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PHOTOS

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642
2 Hagen Street, Robe

e ——————
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South-facing elevation of the chqel with lean-to to the rear, 1980.

Source: DEW Files

North-facing elevation of the chapel with lean-to to the rear, 1980.

Source: DEW Files
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PHOTOS

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642
2 Hagen Street, Robe

Source: DEW Files

Interior of the chapel, 1982.

Source: DEW File
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PHOTOS

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642
2 Hagen Street, Robe

Front of the chapel showing the cross finial, statuette, and pointed door, 2005.

Source: DEW Files

)

Pointed entrance door fohe chael with leadlight fransom window, 2005.

Source: DEW Files
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PHOTOS

St Mary’s Star of the Sea Catholic Church PLACE NO.: 11642

2 Hagen Street, Robe

South-facing elevation of the chapel with lean-to to the rear, 2005.

Source: DEW Files
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